Hood River Irrigation

By Kelsey Doncaster

Irrigation in the Hood River Valley, about sixty miles east of Portland on the Columbia River, was
once a matter of supplementing nature. During the mid-nineteenth century, orchardists could grow
fruit without additional water; but as the dense, timbered land in the valley was cut over (logged),
irrigation was a way to ensure the growth of the local fruit industry. Unlike most other agricultural
areas, however, irrigation stayed local, following the establishment of the orchard industry instead
of being its catalyst. Through cycles of constant improvement of its irrigation systems, the Hood
River Valley became a famous fruit-producing area.

In 1854, Nathaniel Coe arrived in the valley where the City of Hood River is today. He cleared some
land and harvested his first crop of apples in 1859. In 1886, the first commercial apple orchard was
started by Peter Mohr, who planted 400 trees on the east side of the Hood River Valley. During the
1890s, reports of the bountiful orchards attracted immigrants from Finland and the East Coast, who
came to the valley to buy land and plant orchards. They were followed by Japanese immigrants in
the early 1900s, who hired on to clear land as a step toward acquiring property.

The first irrigation ditch in the Hood River Valley was dug by the Water Supply Company in 1874,
but what became known as the “big ditch” was not completed until 1897. The eleven-mile-long main
canal was built by the Valley Improvement Company, started by Jeremiah F. (Frank) Davenport to
irrigate the west side of the valley by diverting water from the Hood River. The big ditch “changed
the Hood River Valley almost overnight from a poverty pocket to a land boom,” David Burkhart and
Ruth Guppy wrote in 2007. It was also a catalyst for more irrigation in the valley. As with many early
irrigation projects in the West, it was the water users themselves who made that happen.

By 1907, irrigation systems were in place, linked to the Hood River forks and the many creeks and
streams in its watershed. The Hood River Basin Partnership reported, “there were 349,435 apple
trees, 9,152 pear trees, 4,527 cherry trees, and 7,180 peach trees in the valley.” By 1910, the
twenty-two-mile-long Mt. Hood Railroad had been completed to transport carloads of fruit from the
orchards and fields. Unlike in other parts of Oregon, the Hood River Valley never had a federal
irrigation project. Valley farmers were an independent lot, and unlike other fruit-growing districts in
Oregon and the Pacific Northwest, the Hood River Valley already had adequate precipitation. Local
irrigation was developed to enhance existing agriculture rather than to establish new areas to grow
fruit trees.

The East Fork Irrigation Company’s canal system was constructed in 1895-1905 on the east side
of the valley, where farmers built canals in discontinuous sections in order to pay for their stock in
the company. But the canals were “not the same width in all places” and were reconstructed to be
uniform in width, grade, and bank. From 1909 to 1912, the Dee Irrigation and Power Company
system was built by David Eccles’s Oregon Lumber Company to develop 2,000 acres of land the
lumber company had logged near Dee. The six-mile-long ditch was surrounded by small tracts of
lands rented by Issei and Nisei farmers who grew strawberries, pears, and apples in Dee, Odell,
Parkdale, Pine Grove, and Oak Grove.

The development of the irrigation systems was a mostly local affair, with citizens from around the
county doing the construction and, later, managing with a local board of directors (an exception was
the Dee Irrigation and Power Company, which was private). Hood River orchardist Charles R.
Bone, for example, was a contractor for the East Fork Irrigation Company who oversaw
construction of the system and held the mortgage of the EFIC system until it was paid off in 1906.

During the early years, canals were constructed of earth or had wooden flumes to cross a deep
ravine or stream. During the World War | era, concrete flumes or Armco metal Lennon-type flumes
were used. In 1923, on the Farmers Irrigation Company system, a 210-foot-long tunnel in the main
canal replaced 400 feet of flume that was consistently washed away by floodwaters. During that
period, smaller ditches were piped with wooden stave or iron, and diversion dams and headworks
built of logs or earth were replaced with concrete headworks with metal gates.



Irrigation companies reorganized and changed their names because of financial woes during the
early twentieth century. After 1913, many irrigation companies were reorganized when Oregon
passed laws governing the formation of districts. The changes were made after a populist
movement of landowners took control of privately operated systems so they would operate more
effectively, increasing cooperation and updating gravity irrigation systems that had not been
maintained.

In 1913, the East Fork Irrigation Company became the East Fork Irrigation District, and new owners
set out to reconstruct the poorly built and engineered irrigation system. The company focused on
the 7-mile-long Main Canal and three laterals (Odell, Neal Creek, and Middle), totaling 21 miles,
and 400 miles of sublaterals and distributing flumes. Farmers and ranchers purchased the Dee
Irrigation and Power Company system from the Oregon Lumber Company in 1922 and renamed it
the Dee Flat Irrigation District.

By 1926, practically all of the valley’s irrigable areas—29,694.82 acres—were organized into
districts: East Fork Irrigation District, Middle Fork Irrigation District, Hood River Irrigation District,
Farmer’s Irrigation Company, Dee Irrigation District, Mount Hood Irrigation District, and Glacier
Irrigating Company. The projects stretched from the upper to the middle valley and to the lower
west side. Originally, all of the districts were privately owned. The Farmer’s Irrigating Company
became an irrigation district in 1965 when the 1964 flood damaged their system so badly that it
became necessary to get federal funds for repairs.

During the 1920s and 1930s the systems mostly stayed the same in their original design of open
canals, but there was a big push after World War 1l to improve aging systems with more and better
piping. Those kinds of improvements continue into the twenty-first century for water conservation.
Throughout the irrigation reconfigurations, Hood River Valley orchards have maintained their
importance to Oregon'’s fruit economy, especially for pears, which were made Oregon'’s state fruit in
2005—a hill that was cosponsored by Rick Metsger, the representative for Hood River.
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